
\JU kJjl AJÆLW-<LJ

S 3 // jó'

£

¿>



LONGITUDINAL HISTORY

George Okamoto

November 28, 1981



George Okamoto - November 28, 1981 � 1 �

Born: 1930
Molino, California

(I did not set up my recorder properly, but, I disco yered my error as soon as the  
interview was finished and I immediately replayed t he tape and wrote down what I could
remember of Mr. Okamoto's responses.)

Rosalie Wax: First, V d like to know a Little, h-lt about your li{e beior.e  Pearl Harbor.  
Thinking back to those days, before this aŵ ul even t, how would you deSeJu.be  
youJi lî e?

George Okamoto was born in a small town in Californ ia. His, father was a  
gardener and had eight children, five boys and three girls. George is the  
fourth child. A brother, two sisters and then Georg e. He was eleven years  
old and in grade school at the time of the evacuati on.

Rosalie Wax: iilkat do you remember about the fiirsi stages, otf  the evacuation?

(.1 think I will henceforth put Mr. Okamoto's respons es in the first  
person. R.H.W.)

George Okamoto: My most vivid memory is leaving ouJt home with overl oaded suitcases and what  
we could carry - and walking seven blocks with this  load. When we lefit our.  
house all the neighbors: stayed indoors - no one ca me out to say vGood-byev.
I &elt this very strongly - as ifa we were being trea ted like traitors, or  
criminals.

We were sent to Tanfioran.  I remember how crowded we were, how we had to  
stuH straw into mattresses, to have something to sl eep on and how you had to  
wait in long lines to brush your teeth.

(Mr. Okamoto again spoke of the pain he felt because  he was being treated as  
if he had done some wrong - like a dangerous criminal.)

[ A
I forgot to mention that on the train {¡rom San brand s, co to T an £ or an, J  
tried to look out the windows when we passed the to wn where  I was born.
But the  M. V. *s ordered us to keep all the window shades, dow n. So J figured  
it out by counting the white stones.

Rosalie Wax: Were there any ofi these experiences that you {¡eel  were the worst, that made  
you $eel the saddest?

George Okamoto: (Emphatically) Being treated as a criminal.

Rosalie Wax: I have a question here that really bears on this. How  did you manage to  
cope with these experiences ?

George Okamoto: Well,  I was eleven, and  I did have a good time playing with the other boys.  
But  I think l coped mostly by not thinking about it. By k eeping it out ofa  
my mind.
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RH: Whede wede you sent fi/ion Tanfipaan?

GO: To the Topaz Qented tn Utah. It was tn an old d ived bed and the duAt was. vedy  
unpleasant.

RW: Which expedience do you decall mo At staongly In Topaz?

GO: The No-No business was the woast time. My oldest bd othed sold No-No and the entcde.  
family was dependent on my olded bdothed -AO oud pa dentA. and the seven othed chlldden  
went to Tule Lake. My bdothed fielt that being aske d these questions was, an Insult  
afated what had bem done to us.  (Hr. Okamoto described the tension and anxiety  
caused by the Military Questionnaire, but X cannot remember the details. It appears,  
to be one of the events he remembers most 'viyldly.)

RW: Was, youd bdothed a No-No od did he juAt defuse to ansjwed?

GO: He was. a No-No - he was 19 od 2Q at the time.,

(Mr. Okamoto then began to talk about Tule Lake.)

GO:/ I didn't go to the WRA High School at Tule Lake  - I went to the Val Torn  (Greater East  
/ Asia School.)1 I leadned to Apeak Japanese vedy well.,  I even noticed while, going to  

’ J- f Japanese school In Tule Lake that I got so I couldn ’t speak English ��� well with my  
^  | English speaking fialends. I fielt I was. developin g a Japanese accent.

* Sometime In the Spdlng o& 1944 the boys wede hold ing an undo Val  (athletic tournament,)  
The mllltaay police came In and aaaested my boathea  and anothea young man.

It was only a iew yeaas ago that my bdothed told me  about something that had happened  
to him In the stockade.. The M.,  E ’s made by bdothed stand against a wall while they  
lined up In fidont ofa him with guns . Then they to ld him to smoke his last dgaaette.
Eod all these yeans my bdothed told no one about th is,. Subsequently my bdothed de�
nounced his citizenship and went to Japan.

(Mr. Okamoto then told me in detail how hard he had  worked in the Japanese school.)_

RW: Was It helpful to have youd family with you In Tule  Lake?

GO: I didn’t know people outside ô my family. I did not make faalends,. We wede all  
looking to my olded bdothed £od guidance .

RW: Was thede any pedson at Tule Lake whom you vedy muc h despected - to whom you could go  
fiod guidance?

GO: (Very long pause) Not to anybody. Thede was no one.

/I,  There were three distinct language schools at Tule  Lake. The Dai. Towa, (Greater East  
Asia) was the first to be organized. In late 1944, reliable respondents told me that the  
teachers in this school did not approve of the Rese gregationists. Early in 1945 I was told  
that the Dai Towa had expelled teachers and student s who had joined the Re segregationist  
groups /̂
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(After he left Tule Lake, in October of 1945, Hr. Ok amoto worked his, way through high  
school, hut he was two years behind. His sisters fou nd work as maids* After he finished  
high school, at age 21, he enlisted in the Army. Du ring the Korean War and because of  
his knowledge of Japanese he was able to serye in t he Army Language School. XI felt that  
enjoyed the irony of serying in the Military Intell igence only a few years, after he and  
his family had been stigmatized as. "dangerous crim inals".1 After the war he went to college  
on the G.I. Rill. He is now employed as Personnel Di rector of the Bay Area Social Work  
Agency.) ^ '

RW: Looking back, what paAt  Ojj youA cxpeAtence aJ> stilt the hasidest tg bcast ?

Hr. Okamoto said that he felt most sorrow oyer the fate  of his. father who, after leay-  
ing Tule Lake, was unable to find employment, became  very depressed, and died at the age of  
55. He also implied that he had become alienated fro m his oldest brother, who bad renounced  
his citizenship, gone to Japan and then returned to  the United States. (Other respondents  
have told me that Mr. Okamoto’s brother was an ardent member of the young men’s Re segrega�
tionist group.)
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Second Interview

Good morning, this is Professor Rosalie Wax.
Oh, Hi, Mrs. Wax, how are you?

I'm fine and I've been really going, how should I say, fu ll steam ahead on  
my interviewing; it's been very rewarding.
Good.

And also, because of the troubles of people, it's depressing, but I think  
this is worth recording. And.  •one thing, I  have found that i t ’s useful to  
call people twice because some people think of things that they wish they  
had told me.
Yeah, I got your letter.

Yes, I wondered if you have a little time now. Otherwise I  could make an  
appointment.
No, I could talk to you now.

Oh, that's splendid. Did anything occur to you that you wished you had  
told me?
Not really, I  did think over, you know, that, really, I think I  said  
pretty much what I  felt I wanted to say or you know kn ew about.

It was a very complete interview, I've made up a few extra questions,  
based on what I've been finding out. For some people, the camp  experience  
helped to strengthen their families; for other people the camp experience  
helped to break up the families. Would you care to say what happe ned in  
your case?
Okay, in my case, as you know, my oldest brother had a lot of influence in  
our family because he was around 18-19, And in Topaz he was very invol ved  
in the "yes-yes, no-no" activities. And to me, my father was a  very quiet  
kind of person, so my oldest brother kind of took over the fa mily in making  
decisions. And so based on his decision I  have, a feeling that he cClso  
influenced my second oldest brother, you know, my second oldest br other,  
although he was also Kibei, he wanted to study in America here. Bu t I  
think through my oldest brother's influence, he answered those questio ns  
"no-no" also. And therefore my father and mother also did because they  
didn't want to split up the family so to speak. So we went to Tule Lake  
and in Tule Lake, I went to this Japanese Language School that they  
started, because they thought, well, we'll be sent back to Ja pan we better  
learn to speak Japanese, In that effort I and my older sisters an d so on,  
we didn't really want to go to that school especially when th e English  
speaking high school started. We wanted to go to English sch ool• But it
was my oldest brother who kind of forced us to go to t he Japanese school.
So, based on that feeling and we were in that for two years, and based on  
that feeling, I  personally was, and I think my sisters were also very, when  
we came back from camp to San Mateo, we were very, I personally was very  
angry. And you know, I  really didn't like my oldest brother. And I did a  
lot of things like, you know, enlisting in the Army and so on, based on  
trying to prove my loyalty and so on. It was not until ten years later  in
1951. .let’8 see when did he come back, I  went to Japan a nd saw him. .

Oh, did he go to. .
Yes, he went back to Japan from Tule Lake.

And he renounced his citizenship?
Right. And he went back to Japan about February, 1943 and he remained
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GO: t here and it was in 1951 that I  went to Japan based on the K orean War, enlisting in the  
Army, and then I met him and got to know him a little bet ter, and you know, then this ̂  
strong feeling that I  had for him tended to soften to a point wh ere in 1960 when he d id i 
want to eome book to the United States, he already had sta rted a family, he asked me  j 
to be his sponsor and I was glad to do that and so on. So it took about that long, at j  
least until 1951 when I went book and got to know him better, that I began to feel a I  
little bit more comfortable being with him and that he was my brother.

RW: You could resume your brotherly feelings.
GO: Right. But until then I would say, me included, but my oldest sister especially, h ad  

some very strong resentments against my oldest brother for bein g that dominant during  
that period. Since then I've had no problems with him. In fact nowada ys with. .since  
we are able to talk about the "yes-yes, no-no" problem, I  begin to  feel that he was one  

1 of the more brave ones to take the contrary decision a t that particular time. So I  
| have some respect for him because of the decisions he had made at the time.
�

RW: I've talked to other men who've said "no-no" and went to Japan and I'm sure some of  

them did it out of a sense of justice.
GO: Yes.

RW: They had been treated very unjustly and they weren't going to give in.
GO: Yes•

RW: That's kind of my feeling. Where does your brother live now?
GO: He came back to the United States, lived for ten years here, then he got a job through  

an American company to go back to Japan. So he did go b ack to Japan and he's there  
since, so he went back in 1970, I guess, thereabouts a nd he's living there and he's has  
his citizenship back. But he was until a couple of years ag o working for an American  

company, but now I think he's on his own.

RW: Well, he's in Japan, I can't interview him.
GO: Ho. Our family with my sisters and so on, we've alway s been together and so on. So I  

don't think there is any effect so much from camp one way or the other, you know. It's  
just that they live in San Jose and San Mateo, I live on the east bay in Richmond, so  
there’s a distance factor. But we get together when we have fami ly get-togethers at  
least once or twice a year. My second oldest brother who lives in Michigan, he does a  
lot of flying to Asia. He drops in to see mother and whenver  we try to get together,  
like this August we're planning a get-together when he's in town and so on. So we try  
to do these things when we can, especially since my mother is get ting older to where  
we're not sure how long. . .So that's why we try to do nowadays.

RW: Do you think your second oldest brother might be willing to ta lk to me?
GO: He might be, yeah.

RW: Well, if you could tell me where he lives, why I coul d just ask him and explain and. .
GO: And explain that I  referred. .1 thought I gave you his address a long time ago when you  

first started to contact me, but let me see if I have it he re; well try this address,  

he may have moved, but I'll give you this address, okay.

RW: I can at least ask because I find that some of the people who said "no-no" and
especially people who have been to Japan, apparently hav e such, how should I say, such  
terrible experience, they don't want to talk. It's a matter of repressi on.

GO: That’8 true. Yes, it is very true and you know, many feel very  guilty for doing what  
| they did, without realizing that all this was put on by the governm ent and that they  
I have no reason to feel guilty. But they do, and they feel that other people don't  
ft like what whatever. So anyway, there are a lot of strong feelings am ongst even the  
j Japanese American community to this day.
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RW: Do you m ean.  • •
GO: About being in Tube Lake or being identified at Tube Lake.

RW: Being identified.  •yes I've noticed that too. I pban in my report to make chear that  
some peopbe have been so traumatized that there is much that they don't want to tabk  
about.

GO: That's very true. And even to this day.

RW: Yes, even to this day, it's amazing. Do you have time for a co upbe of more questions?
GO: Sure.

RW: As you think back over what you have achieved in your bifetime, in what way did the  
camp experience hebp you and in what way do you think the  camp experience hurt you?

GO: In terms of hurting first, it did get me behind two years in schoob, because I went.  .
, I  had to go to Japanese Language Schoob instead of Engbish Schoob and therefore when I
| got out of camp, I've been two years behind. I ended up with ha ving a sbight accent  
I you know, especiabby in the beginning and therefore it was a ma tter of feebing not  
\ sebf-confident, feebing that I'm two years behind my other schoob mates  that we went to  
f schoob together, they were two years ahead of me and this kind of thing. And  this had  
f a bot of effect on me for many, many years, you know, e speciabby in my young years.
I But now, I don't have any feebings about it, but I do reabize that it did have a bad
I effect on me.

RW: It was difficubt during your young manhood.
GO: Right. But now in terms of booking back I feeb that having participated in the  famiby  

that went "no-no", having been abbe to b e a m  Japanese at that time and sin ce then I've  
gone to Army Language Schoob during the Korea War and I continue d to use my Japanese to  

1 the point i3iere many peopbe who even went to Army Langua ge Schoob during Worbd War II  
I and even the Korean War, they've forgotten their Japanese, but I've kept mine up, to  
j where every year, I use it for my professional association wh en debegates come from  
I Japan, I  act as the officiab interpreter and peopbe hear me speak and they think that  
/ I'm from Japan. Anyway, I feeb positiveness in terms of my abibity to speak Japanese;

abibity. .webb because of that experience also I think I feeb I've proven m y boyabty to  
I this country, I don't have to do that anymore. If peopbe accuse me,  I coubd tabk back  

to them without feebing hesitant, without feebing you know bess competant or whatever.  
So from that standpoint especiabby in today's day, where things have come out in the  
open where I  don't have to have these guibt feebings. I feeb a bot stronger now I  
feeb, because of my experiences. To make sure this thing doesn 't hap pen again. And I  
think we have something going there in that peopbe may accuse  of being disboyab and so  
on, but actuabby to me, it's harder to tabk about and to make a wro ng right. It's  

' harder to do that than to just sit back and bet things happen you se e. So from that  
standpoint I  feeb very strongby that I'm doing the right thing.

RW: I imagine you feeb that if anything bike this were tried again you wou bd reabby speak  
out.

GO: Oh, there is no question in my mind about that, regardbess of what it takes, I'm not  
used to picketing or whatever, but whatever it takes, I wou bd definiteby. . .

RW: Do you feeb that you've had to work especiabby hard in your bife  in order to make up  
for the years you spent in camp?.

GO: Yes, definiteby. When we got out of camp, abb of us. .the two o bdest brothers were not  
here, in other words, my obdest brother went back to Japan, my second obdest brother he  
was. .he got out of camp in Tube Lake in December, January, but he decided t o go to  
cobbege in the Midwest, Bark Cobbege in Kansas, in Kansas City, Misso uri.

RW: Yes, I know nhere that it.
GO: Yeah, so anyway I was beft as the next mabe, you know, I  had two obder sisters, but as  

the next mabe, I had the famiby responsibbity. But abb of us were stibb going to
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GO: high school or to school a nd my father was the only one earning money because my
mother had high blood pressure and couldn't, and therefore, because of that,  I felt the  
pressure and felt again because of my oldest brother forcing us to go to, you know,  
Japanese school and so on, all that kind of feeling I felt very resentful and also  
having this burden on me when there were the two oldest brother s. We were told that our  
oldest brothers are to be the people in the family who are supp osed to take over and so  
on; I'm right in the middle and I end up being responsible. I had a lot of hard  
feelings there along that line of being very resentful in my young da ys. Now I feel,  
well, now I don't feel that strongly naturally and take it on, a s oh well, it was a  
good experience, let's say, and let it go at that.

RW: I had the same experience of being the oldest in the family an d my father running  
off, but now that I look back on it, it did me a world of go od. At the time it was  
difficult. You get a kind of maturity and self confidence. There is one more and you  
may have answered it, but you're a very intelligent man and  you always think of  
something helpful to say. As you think about yourself and your sense  of stability and  
security, do you feel that the camp experience left you with a sense of in security and  
even damage?

GO: Yeah, I feel that, you know, had this not happened to  us, we could have during the war  
years, you know, I hate to talk about money, but I'm talking i n terms of in general,  
there was a lot of money made by people who stayed because of the inflationa ry rates  
and so on, and working for the defense of the country. We could  have probably, my  
father's parents could have afforded a higher life insura nce premiums, you know, of  
payments and so on so that they would be covered and protect ing the family, and a lot  
of savings could have been taken, had we not been gone for four yea rs. I do feel  
that I probably would have been in a better position now had this not happened.  
Definitely, because there are a lot of decisions I made in adult lif e because I  
couldn't get into college as soon as I wanted to, you know, we cou ld have had better  
life insurance, which would have kept my mother going and so on, gi ve her a better life  
to live and so on. I think ,we really missed out. I think  in the Japanese Americans as  
a whole, sure, there are many people that made it since then. Bu t they could have made  
it more. They could have had more monetary stability, had this not happened. Speaking  
for myself and for the community as a whole, I feel that defnitely we lost out quite a  
bit, more than the amount we are even seeking.

RW: This ought to be kind of obvious to everyone, but people don't accept. . .
GO: Well, they keep telling us that well, everybody suffered dur ing the war, you know, and  

try to brush it under just with that kind of comment, which is to me, very irritati ng  
because at least they had a choice. We didn't, and that to me is a big difference.

RW: And they weren't stigmatized as criminals or dangerous pe ople.
GO: Right.

RW: Many people I've talked to  - this is very deep  - how much they resent  - they couldn't  
believe it.
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^Se* Takeshita V* a ^ jC

(I did not set up my recorder properly, but,iamKttt narintrnKMntta&kamntBftna 
I discoveredmy error as soot as the interview was f inished and xxxtx 
cinwnawkafcn I immediately sxfexnkmwmmamdnwmmtim re played the taoe and 
wrote down xi what I could remember of Mr. Okameto' s responses.)

HW: First, I ’d like to know a little bit about your  life before Pearl 
Harbor. Thinking back to those days, before this aw ful event, hew 
would you describe your life?

GO: GO. was bern in a small town in Cailfornia. His  father was a

ba« t ig^  childre*> 5 boys and 3 girls. NsMfcmmttaeGeorge is  the 
fourth child. A brother, tw© sisters and then f  Beorge. He was 11 
years old and in grade school at the time of the ev acuation.

HW: What do you rmember about the first stages of t he evacuation?

(I think I will henceforth **r put Mr. Okakamoto’s repenses in the 
first person. R.H. W.)

My most vivid memory is leaving our home with overl oaded suitcases 
and what we could carry - and nbtiebe walking seven  blocks with this »

we left °ur house all the neighbors stayed indoors - no 
©ne came out to say, ”Good~fcre.” I felt this very strongly - as if v*< 

being treated like f  traitor* or /| crfcminalS' .

Y*re. serk Tanforan. I remember how crowded we were , hew we had t© 
stuff straw into mattresses to have something to sl eep on and hew 
you had to wait in long lines to brush your teeth.

Krxx(Mr. 0. again BSBt& ��edsfe!ssspa&Kp spoke of the pain be felt 
because fcxxx he was being treated as if he had don e some wrong —  
like a dangerous criminal.) j , i

� fergot to mention that on the train from San Franc isco to Tanfcran, 
l tried to look out the windows when we passed the town where I'was
b®rl* p**s ordered us to keep all the window shades  down,
o© I figured it out by counting the white stones.

RW: Were there any of these experiences that you feel w ere the worst, 
you feel the saddest? *

that made

GO: (Emphatically) Being tfceated as a criminal.

RW: I have a question here that really bears on this, 
to cope with these experiences?

Hpw did you manage

GOi ? WaS a*d � did bav* a good Playi»g with the other
tamx boys. But I think I coped mostly by not thinki ng about it. 

By keeping it out of my mind.

RW: Where were you sent from Tanferan?

GO: To the Topaz Center in Utah. It was in an old r iver bed and the dust 
was very unpleasant.
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1. There were three distinct language schools at Tu le Lake. The Dji 
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the teachers in this school did not approve of the Resegregatiensts.

i-arly in 19U5 I was told that the flstaaoot Dai To w« had expelled teachers
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RW: Which experience do you recall most strongly in  Topaz?
G0: The No-No business was the worst time, Ify olde st brother said No-No and 

the entire family was dependent on my older brother  -So our parents 
and the SKmmftmfehiaR seven other children went to Tule Lake < My brother 

felt that being askedthese questions was an insult after what had been don 
4so  (Mr, Okamoto described the tension and anxiety cau sed by the

Military Questionnaire, but I cannot remember the d etails.xibciixix 
It appears to be one of the agents he remambers mos t Tbtinft vividly.)

RW: Was your brother a No-No or did he just refuse to aKxncxxxx answer? 
x Xexxxs  ,
G): He was a No-No - he was 19 ®r 20 at the time.

(Mr. OkamotfC then began to talk about Tule Lake.)

GO: I didn't go tkxx t© the WRA High School at Tule  Lake - I went to the
Dai Towa jgtei (Greater East Asia School.)® I learn ed to speak Japanese

� organised �� by >feachers whĉ 4*?

I got so I couldn't speak English so well with my E nglish speaking friends. 
I felt I was developing a Japanese accent.

tournament. The military police came in and arrest^ my brother and another 
young man. ' ***

that had happend to him in the stockade. The M.P.*s  made my brother stand 
against a wall while they lined up in front of him with guns. Then they 
told him to smoke his last cigarette, fci For all t aps these years my brother 

told no one about this. Subsequently my brother ren ounced Viis citizenship 
and went to Jppan.

(Mr. Okamoto then told me in detail how hard he fcr ad worked in the 
Japanese school.)

RW: , Was ;Lt helpful to have your family with you in Tule Lake?
GO: I didn't know people outside of my family, I di d not make friends. We

were all looking to my older brother for guidance.

RW: Was there any person at Tule Lake whom you very  touch respedted - to 
whcm you could go for guidance.

GO: (Very long pause) StattmmmmarawECMJOHCxjiwuMnmm Maiim Not to anybody. Tfrere 
was no-one.

(After he left Tule Lake, in October of Mr. Okamoto  worked his way

through high school, but he was two years behind. H is sisters found work as 

maids. After he finished H±gkx high school,at age 2 1, he enlisted in the 

Army • During the Korean war kaxoRBxaknxnxIihtcn&nc Scn&BmyclenguagftnaQh&ttjk

cml«e*amdm&oq leammm

very well. I even notiped while going to Japanese s chool in Tule Lake that

Sometime in the Spring of 19U* the boys were holdin g an (athletic

It was only a feif years ago that my brother told m e about something
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Kksxeand because of his knowlege of Japanese he was  able to serve in the

Army Language School. (He jktsmh  enjoyed the irony of bfl±*tpcaE«xiL£oxninxn±nnlSkl* Mi

�"#�#$��%%������& '� "�(�	�#���������	�)��	*����+���*,!�"���		��-�!)��-��-!�-�

serving in the Military Intelligence only a few yea rs after he haaixteiMCx

and his family had been stigmatized as XgXXXK "dang erous criminals".)

After the war he went to college on the G.I. Bill.© ixStgkiEKSx He is now 
employed

Hsoekixg/as Personnel Director of the Bay Area Soci al xxxk Work Agency.

HW: Looking back, what part of you experience is st ill the hardest to bear?

Mr. fflkamoto said that he i±e felt most sorrow ove r the fate of his father
• I

who, after leaving Sbdtxkx 3£ule Lake, was unable t o find employment, became 

very depressed, and died at the age of 5>£. He also  implied that he had 

become alienated from his oldest brother, who had r enuunced his citizenship, 

gone to Japan and then returned to the United State s. (Other respondents 

have told me that Mr. Okamoto’s brother was an arde nt member of the 

young mens’ Resegregationist group.)



Ben Monreti Takeshita 
6626 Richmond Ave. 
Richmond, CA 9l|.805

Home
15*- 23  ̂- 8182 

xx&fc jfcfare - -£X$- �±&�x
Office - Ul5>-67 �-I �OOO

RW -(starts recorderQ and of course I wonlt use yau rname.
First, I ’d like to knew a little bit about your lif e beftre Pearl Harbor 

Thiteking back te those days, befare this awful eve nt, bow w*uld yeu 
describe y*ur life?

L^ved in Calif ©minis - barn in small tawn j*(Molen e*?) f at bey _ ^  
a gardener, '»a �� eight children - | bays and §jTgirls.

Ben is the fourth child - jootxkr a brother, twa si sters 
then Ben -

feur years aid
Went t> Japan far six mtnths when Ben a small child  4 alder brother 

stayed there far several years.
30 11

barn in, �	�&£ - $ years aid and in grade school at time of 
of byacuatibn. „ �

RW. What do yau remmeber about the first stages afx floc the evacuation?

Misst vivid membary is leaving with overloaded suit cases and what they 
could carry - and walking seven blacks with this le ad - 

Also remembers feeling like xxk  he was being treated like a criminal

When they wmmtomimmihr left thier hcmse all neighbo rs stayed in dears - 
no ene wculd say Goad-bye - felt this very strgnly - 

as if they were dangerous and drimiial.
(said with much feeling)

Were seat te Tanfaran -
Remembers haw carwded, - haw had t» stuff straw int o mattresses to be 

able to sleep - wait in long lines t® brush yaur te eth - 
Again mentions sadness a pain at teeing rejected as  kg a criminal -

Forgot to mention that on train from San Fransixco to Tanfcran , he tried 
t© lank rut the windown at the tawn he was barn - #  but s MP(s 
ordered them te keep hje  all the windtwn shades down.
She he figured it out by the whitle stops.

Tells mere'of hardships of Tanfaran.

Were trader there any of these experiences that yeu  feel was the worst or 
makes yau feel sad.

Being treated as criminal. (Beams te have impressed  kirn deeply at 
age ��.)

tMKmxfokmrmkBQSfî mxaxixî mraxmkmxî ixbxmKmitm L̂xpa sikxMim^miâ mHimlnhimmihnmm baynsin

I have a question here that really bears an this. H ©w did yau manage 
t© seae with this?

Well, tksxkscrx he w ;as 11 and did have a good tim e olaying with 
the other ebys.

But thinks he coped mostly by not thinking about it  - by keeping it 
out of his mind.

Then sent to Topaz Center in Utah -
iff

mentions the unpleasant dust - anold river bed - 
xxxM£±±fcsr The No- No. business was the worst time  -

His brother said No-No- and, I gather urged other y pung men to 
do so.



2�

Entire family shoe  dependent »a older brether - he really led them - 
Sa, since he was NoN® - aiixxxxx the ©arents aad � children went 

to Tule Lake.

KW. Which experience would you recall most strongly  in T paz - 
The No N© business was worst time - 

Bother Nt no see previous »age.
Felt that being asked these questions was an insult  after what had been 

done t® them.
(very long desert©®« here - alas -

evidently much angry discussion - among oe©«le at T »»az ~
RW Did this make ytu feel anxioaus ®r wa is  it just fchat you sensed that 

t-fes general tensi- n?

RW Was a brother a N®-N® ©r did he just refuse t© a nswer?
BT - He was a No-No.

B»rther was 19 ©r �� at this time.
Then tells  ̂me that did not go to WRA high school b ut t©

the M I Y T M I Y M K ®  Dai T®wa Juku (Greater East Asia Sch ®@l) 
boitx - where he learned to speak Japanese very wel l - 
even noticed in Tule Lake that he cmMmMitaimm a£kxK  as he 

attended this school he c@uld not speakEnglish s* w ell with his 
Bmglish speaking friends — felt he developed a (Jap anese 

accent -

Sfe©ry ©f what ha p^ad t® his brother -
Stmeti.iê  in six Spring of I 	I�.I� wsemmmbmih boys were holding an 

x*kx mmmmmlaii undau kai (athletic tournament)
mi’lita.y police came in and arrested his olde r br other and another 

young man -

Onlu a few years ago - his brother told M  him that MP's had stood him 
against a wall, told him t® smoke his last cigarett e, ...isxjbtexfciy 

• tiDctagk while they lined up  with guns - (why theydid this Mr. T. did 
say) - this brother subsequently renounced his citi zenship and 
went tf Jatan.

££»£(Bortfâ r joptspc evidently told n© one about _this — for all these years.

RW. Yes, and it affected him so much that he didn't  tell ypu until a few 
years ag®«

Seems to have spend most of his energy in Japanese school,

RW Who were the other members ®f your family at Tul e Lake?
Father mother - brothers and 3 sisters

RW. Was it helpful to have youf family with ycu?
Explains that he did not know people outside his fa mily - 

did not make friends.

Explains more uo«*n hew dependent they all wxxxewer e on older brother 
for guidance.

RS. Was there any person at Tule Lake whom you very  mubh resopected? 
x3£K BT (Thinks a long while and explains that ther e was no »ne.

X&Kfc Sad picture of isolation.)

RW. - Were there any ®f the teachers in the Japanes e school.. ..
I guess, rakxKkx what I'm asking is who would you g o to for advice 

in a serieus xx ±xm±khx  s±fcxa±xsauc thing at ycur age?

BT - said he had noone.- ’'Not t© anybody’* .



Takeshita 3.
3.

Maw tali ma haw, after lie left Tuie Lake it Octabe r ef I?li5, lie wait ta 

Itigli schaal tut was twa yearns bmdk). aehiad, bec ause af bis iaxa gaiag ta 

Japaaese sehael at Tula Lake* After fiaishiag High Bchaal, be eilistei it 

tèe army aai served duritg tbe Karnaaxjcn  war with Karea - be alsa served 

it tbe f  U.S. Army laaguage schemi, where be ktawledge af J apaaese was 

af great help* Was 21 wbea be begat ta serve it Kar eaa war*

After tbe war be weat ta ealleg at tbe G. I* till*

He is taw h k  warklag as direetar af a sacial wark xx aacy, I no de caa’t 

remember tbe tame, but it sauaded pretty impressive * Atr After laag discussiti 

af bis Joacb preseat cernititity serviag wark, I wx xxx asked:

HW? Laakiag back, wbat pxxyxxpxfc part af yaur expe rieaee is till tbe hardest 

ta bear* Mr* Takes bits said that be ̂wa»»*teet xx ^élmbùrbe-d^y tbe 

fate af bis father it tbe years after tbe fzmily le ft Tuie Lake* His father 

was uaable tafxftatx ta fiad emeleymeat, became ver y depressed, aad died at 

t$e age af (He bad élsa tald me previeusly haw, imm ediately after tbe

war, be warked bis way tbraugb sebaal aad tax that bis sisters bad 

warked as live it maids, sa as ta tkmxk  ink ta be able ta caatiaue thfcir eduatieua*



Serves! in  Ktrean w r -

Tw® years Japanese Schaal - bekifti tw© years wtees started high —  thea war

Dal Tewa - Sally Yamghire, wife af a Jaeaaese seiia al teacher teld me tliat 
the Dai Tewa (Greater East Asia ) seneel - 

The Dai Tewa (GEA) . This is the schaal af Hack 2f > af which Geerge Kuaitaai 
is suppesed ta be priacipal. This s chaal has kicke d aut all Hakaku peeple 

aid will aat have them as teachers ar studeats. Thi s is the first 
Japaaese schaal lauaded ia Tule Lake. After Nerdea’ s last visit the aame was 
chaaged ta Tula Lake Gakuea (Edueatieaal Iastitutia a). This schaal is 
iadepeddaat fram the very large cama-wide schaal« F ieldaetes - Feh. 1U* 19US>

se;vice - then c©liege ft GI. bill af rights -



eorge Okamoto

"*Sfv.
�

RW* Good morning, this is Professor Rosalie Wax*

GO* Oh, Hi Mrs. Wax, how are you?

RWi I'm fine and I've been really going, how should I s ay, full 

steam ahead on my interviewing; itches been very re warding vend 

a l s o^ h ,  because of the troubles of people, it's 

depressing, but I think this is worth recording* An d*.one thing i 

tjfcgt. I hati^found that it$a« useful to call peop le_twice becao^ e some 

people think of things that they wish they had told  me*

GO* Yeah, I got your letter.

./0��� 1 � �2�*�3 � &� ��4����5��)*������)�4������*� ���)��)	6��)�7�)!

RW* Yei, I wondered if you have a little time now*O therwise I could

make an appointment*

GO* No, I could talk to you now.
}

RW* Oh, that-Sjjfe splendid. Did anything occur to you that you wished 

you had told me?

GP* Not really. I did think over, you know, that, r eally, I think 

I said pretty much what I felt I wanted to say or y ou know knew about. 

RW* It was a very complete interview. ffc*n I've ma de up a few extra 

questions, based on what I've been finding out. For  some people, the 

camp experience helped to strengthen their families ; for other people 

the camp experience helped to break Up the families « and m>uld you 

care to say what happened in your case?

GO* Okay, in my case, as you know, my oldest brothe r had a lot of 

influence in our family because he was around lS - l ^ A31̂  in Topaz he 

was very involved in the ”ye$,yes, no-no” activitie s .find to me, my 

father was a very quiet kind of person, so my oldes t brother kind of
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took over the family in making decisions» jknd so based on his decision 

I have a feeling^he also influenced my second oldes t brother, you 

know, my second oldest brother, although he was als o l(ibei, he 

wanted to study in America here* $ut I think throug h my olfest 

brother's influence, he answered those questions "n o-no." also*

^nd  therefore my father and mother also did because  they didn't 

want to split up the family so to speak. So we went  to Tule Lake and 

in Tule Lake, I went to this Japanese Language Scho ol that they 

started, because they thought, well, we'll be sent back to Japan 

we better learn^ to  speak Japanese. In that effort I  and my older 

sisters and so on, we didn't^want to go to that sch ool really especially 

when the English speaking high school started. We w anted to go to 

English school* put it was my oldest brother who ki nd of forced us to 

go to the Japanese school.

s chool and sehoo 1.

SsP So, based on that feeling and we were in that f or & years, and 

based on that feeling, I personally was, and I thin k my sisters were 

also very, when we came back from camp to San Mateo , we were very, I 

personally was very angry*And you know, I really di dn't like my 

oldest brother. And I did a lot of things like, you  know, enlisting 

in the pfcmy  and so on^based on trying to prove my loyalty and so on.
C"l i

It was not until 10 years later in 19*.let's see wh en did he come** 

back, I went to Japan and saw him.•

HWi Oh, did he go to..

GOi Yes, he went back to Japan from Tule Lake.

RWi And he renounced his citizenship^
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GOi Right. And he went hack to Japan about February , 19^6 and he

Korean War, enlisting in the army, and then I met him and got to 

know him a little better, and you know, then this s trong feeling that 

I had for him tended to soften to a point where in i960 when he did 

want to come back to the United States, he already had started a 

family, he asked me to be his sponsor and I was gla d to do that and 

so on. So it took about that long, at least until 1 951 when I went 

back and got to know him better, that I began to fe el a little bit 

more comfortable being with him and that he was my brother.

RWi You could resume your brotherly feelings.

GO � Right. But until then I would say, me included,but  my oldest 

sister especially^had some very strong resentments against my oldest 

brother for being that dominant during that period.  Since then I've 

had no problems with him. In fact nowadays with*.si nce we are able 

to talk about the ”yes-yes, no-no” problem, I begin  to feel that he 

was one of the more brave ones to take the contrary  decision at that 

particular time. So I have some -ether respect for him because of the 

decisions he had made at the time.

RWi I've talked to other men who've sa^d "no-no” an d went to Japan

weren't going to give in .A That's kind of my feeling . Where does 

your brother live now?

GO* He wame back to the United States, lived for ]0  years here, 

then he got a job through an American company to go  back to Japn#

that I went to Japan based on the

and I'm sure some of them did it out of a sense of justice* /jfcf -ym  

sesef"~wr?fet—3E- mean*?—-that iJhey had been^ trea ted very unjustly and they

£• � ; i-**  ♦  R H
1 An . ^

C-Ö! • (Z HT

— he did go back to Japan and h e ’s there since, so h e went back in
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1970, I guess, thereabouts and he's living there and he's  has

his citizenship back#$ut  he was until a couple of y ears ago working

for an American company, but now I think he's on hi s own.

RW* Well, he's in Japan, I can't interview him.

GO * No.

-r-^^very-happy to heat* • *^$£ofess ional^ njen^es pe<riaflly
• * v . r .. . .

T  tfoeir-fam^^es-'are-still splits Ap4 they feel

yery * veryb&d iy  abotfff̂ tflil •

g0t  Our family with ray sisters and so on, we've alway s been together 

and so onr So I don't think there is any effect so much from camp one

way or the other, you know. It's just that they liv e in San Jose

and San Mateo, I live onihe east bay in Richmond, s o there's a 

distance factor# jilit we get together when we have  family get-togethers 

at least once or twice a year. My second oldest bro ther who lives in 

Michigan, he does a lot of flying to Asia* 0*� drops in to see 

mother and whenever we try to get together, like th is August we're

planning a get-together when he's in town and so on . So we try to

do these things when we can, especially since my mo ther is getting 

older to where we're not sure how long,^So that's w hy we try to do 

nowadays.

RWt Do you think your second oldest brother might b e willing to 

talk to me?

GO � He might be, yeah.

R W� Well, if you could tell me where he lives, why I c ould just 

ask him and explain and..

GO � And explain that I referred..I thought I gave you his address 

a long time ago when you first started to contact m e, but let me see
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if I have it here? well try this address, he might hav e moved, but U
������������� ������������������� � ���������������������������

1*11 give you this address, okay./ His name is..his  last name is

/the same, but Yuzuru and his English name is John.  Now he used
/

/ to be at 816 Patricia Avenue, Ann Arbor, Michigan  48103. The phone /

x number is area code 313-7^l-4026 * _ ---- - — —--- —------ —

RWi I can at least ask because I find that some of the people who 

said "no-no" and especially people who have been to  Japan, apparently 

have such, how should I say, such terrible experien ce, they don’t 

want to talk. It's a matter of repression.

GOi That’s true. Yes, it is very true and you know,  many feel very 

guilty £or doing what they did, without realizing t hat all this was 

put on by the government and that they have no reas on to feel guilty*> 

JJut they do  ̂and they feel that other people don't  like what whatever. 

So anyway, there are a lot of strong feelings among st even the 

Japanese American community to this day.

RWi Do you mean..

GO* About being in Tule Lake or being identified at  Tule Lake.

RWi Being identified, .yes I ’ve noticed that too. I

say*~s£-*!TTItrtr̂  I plan in my report to make clea r

that some people have been so traumatized that ther e is much that they 

don't want to talk about.

GOi That's very true. And even to this day.

RWi Yes, even to this day, i t ’s amazing. Do you hav e time for a 

couple of more questions?

GOi Sure.

RWi As  you think back over what you have achieved in your  lifetime, 

in what way did the camp experience help you and in  what way do you 

think the camp experience hurt you?
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GO � In terms of hurting first, it did get me behind j r years in

school, because I went,.I had to go to Japanese Lan guage school

instead of English school and therefore when I got out of camp,

I*ve been ̂ y e a r s  behind. I ended up with having a s light accent

you know, especially in the beginning and therefore  it was a matter
"two

of feeling not self-confident, feeling that I'm Z years behind my
"iv/J

other school mates that we went to school together,  they were ,2 years 

ahead of me and this kind of thing. And this had a lot of effect on 

m e  for many, many years, you know, especially in my  younger years.

But now, I don't have any feelings about it, but I do realize that 

it did have a bad effect on me.

RW* It was difficult during your young manhood.

GO � Right. But now in terms ^ ’looking back I feel that  having 

participated in the family that went "no-no”, havin g been able to 

learn Japanese at that time and since then I've gon e to &rmy language 

^School during the Korea War and I continued to use  my

Japanese to the point where many people who even we nt to Army Language 

-ichool during World War II and even the Korean War , they’ve forgotten 

their Japanese, but I've kept mjne up, to where eve ry year, I use it 

for my professional association when delegates come  from Japan, I 

act as the official interpreter and people hear me speak and they think 

that I'm from Japan. Anyway, I feel positiveness in  terms of my 

ability to speak Japanese; ability*.well because of  that experience 

also I think I feel I've proven my loyalty to this country, I don't 

have to do that anymore. If people accuse me, ba*k .  .1

could talk back to them without feeling hesitant, w ithout feeling 

you know less competant or whatever, So from that s tandpoint especially 

in today's day, where things have come out in the o pen where I don't
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have to have these guilt feelings. I feel a lot stronger now I 

feel, because of my experiences. To make sure this thing doesn’t 

happen again#And I think we have something going th ere in that people 

may accuse of being disloyal and so on, but actuall y to me, i t ’s 

harder to talk about and to make a wrongs right* i t  *s harder to do 

that than to just sit back and let things happen yo u see. So from 

that standpoint I feel very strongly that I ’m doing  the right thing.

RW* I imagine you feel that if anything like this w ere tried again 

you would really speak out.

GOi Oh, there is no question in my mind about that,  regardless 

of what it takes, I ’m not used to/picketing or what ever, but whatever 

it takes, I would definitely.. '

RW* Do you feel that you’ve had to work especially hard in your 

life in order to make up for the years you spent in  camp?

GO* Yes, definitely. When we got out of camp, all o f us..the two 

oldest brothers were not here, in other words, my o ldest brother went 

back to Japan, my second oldest brother he was..he got out of camp 

in Tule Lake in December, January, but he decided t o go to college
yfj*

in^ftidwest, Park College in Kansas, in Kansas City , Missouri.

RW* Yes, I know where that is.

GO* Yeah, so anyway I was left as the next male, yo u know, I had 

\  older sisters, but as the next male, I had the fam ily responsibility*

j
was the only one earning money because my mother ha d high blood pressure 

and couldn*t>and therefore.because of thatfI felt t he pressure and 

felt again because of my oldest brother forcing us to go to, 

yin know, Japanese school and so on, all that kind of feeling I felt 

very resentful-and also having this burden on me wh en there were the
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two oldest brothers #Wa were told that our oldest brothers are to be

the people in the family who are supposed to take o ver and so on;

I'm right in the middle and I end up being responsi ble. I had a

lot of hard feelings there along that line of being  very resentful

in my young days. Now I feel, well, now I don*t fel l that strongly
to*"**

naturally and take it on, as oh well, i**e^a good e xperience, let's 

say, and let it go at that.

RWi I had the same experience of being the oldest i n the family and’ 

my father running off, but now that I look back on it, it did me a 

world of good. At the time it was difficult. You ge t a kind of 

maturity and self confidence. There is one more tis *t^you may have 

answered it, but you're very intelligent man and yo u always think 

of something helpful to say. As you think about you rself and your 

sense of stability and security, do you t jsw^that  t he camp experience 

left you with a sense of insecurity and even damage ?

GOi Yeah, I feel that, you know, i- had^not happened to us, we

could have during the war years, you know, I hate t o talk about money,
in

but I'm talking in terms of/general, there was a lo t of money made 

by people who stayed because of the inflationary ra tes and so on, 

and working for the defense of the country. We coul d have probably, 

my father's parents could have afforded a higher li fe insurance 

premiums, you know, of payments and so on so that t hey would be 

covered and protecting the family, and a lot of sav ings could have 

been taken, had we not been gone for k years. I do feel that I 

probably would have been in a better position now h ad this not 

happened. Definitely, because there are a lot of de cisions X made 

in adult life because I couldn't get into college a s soon as I
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wanted to, you know, we could have had better life insurance, which 

would have kept my mother going and son on, give he r a better life 

to live and so on. I think we really missed out. I think in the 

Japanese Americans as a whole, sure^there are many people that made 

it since then, J8ut they could have made it more« * fhey could have had 

more monetary stability, had this not happened. Spe aking for myself 

and for the community as a whole, I feel that defin itely we lost out 

quite a bit, than the amount we are even seeking.

RWi This ought to be kind of obvious to everyone, b ut people don’t 

accept..

GOi Well, they keep telling us that well, everybody  suffered during 

the war, you know, and try to brush it under just w ith that kind of 

comment, which is to me, very irritating because at  least they had 

a choice, ife  didn't^and that to me is a big difference.

RWi And they weren't stigmatized as criminals or da ngerous people. 

GOi Right.

RWi Many people I've talked to - this is very deep - how much they 

resent - they couldn't believe it,

END OF INTERVIEW #
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Our loyalty was questioned and this is what I resented, arid this is 

the cause ©f my trouble at Tule Lake* Because I did n’t comply with

the registration ©rders, and I was placed there and  labeled a dis�

loyal citixen of America. And I've had to live wfc with that for all 

these years. . . The fact is that we were very loya l, we were extremely



INJUSTI CE, INSECURITY, S i m  STIGMA

reflect*  ̂ resp£fldellts made statements that c e m c h m t y m m m m & n k m m l v 

an abiding sense ef^njustice —  they have sitggra: s uffered  ̂q* great wrnng

that has never ����� righted. /Intimately related to this conscious sen se 

•f injustice ix  is ■ nmmpmea»i»itmamhi!majinnnnnnfan)aiaa.B«miiad*M »m...n.̂ aaar 

J  i  Za hau*tiRS s**se »f insecuriy . No person confine d in the camps can

>f e” r b x x m x  fe«l cnmpletely sure that ittmxprtmiitfccmxpnximxM Dc the

painful and humiliating experiences ©f exvacuation and detentien may jut
� � � ��

/  Mfactaocm net once again be ferced upen them. Act  FecmtBteemtcce.ummrMma,

ttpyxiijDrixttaywMXOTemmmfaunmBd And far three or f our years they were 

obliged tn live in a situation where they were trea ted, day in and day out, 

as af they were criminals nr wdanger©us people'*,

Arthur Xikmsxki Kikuchi, a Nisei, age 15;

After we were evacuated and all, citizenship no lon ger meant anything 

Se we in longer would be surprised with any move th at the government 

would make. The citizenship was worthless. From tha t standpoint, we 

thought we would net be giiven a day in court . . I 'd still like

V  
^ <

�
v

tne future -a proper hearing* . . The fact of the bleakness 

net kntwling what did lie ahead,

LiIC(3Iffie6CBgflSgCQCBCg6ffiC8§8CID0e *

Lillian Nama, a Nisei, age �	:

Because^„noticed when the war started classmates st opped talking
— 1 ^ — W  

to jpe. 0» the Street they didn't eve/ see me . . .  Even now, people.

just because of your'Oriental features you're not c onsidered American, 

JentiiKer Chan, a Nise ,̂ ag"e ��:

The principal

�

</

/Tin Califarnia)
Highsch©¿1 f\ sked us n-©tj ta cerne t© schojal anymej 

sSSuse we were /apanese A m e r i c a ! * ^ It instill ï 'C/htmare" for

�

3 1
to think that we were put in concentration camp in American when we 

are American citizens by birth, It  happened to us ��� years ago.

. . but every once in a while it come back to me. I  ■ >*»+ don't 

think I will forget it completely.



h

Americas# Asd this is what I really reseated all these years :̂ that

I was desied to be an Americas# Seme of tfeKXRX the  young men had

been drafted and then they^ were rejected asd sent to camp.
wh© left Tule Lake ©n December 2£, 19U5 and expatri ated t© 

Jennifer Chan, age IS, tcccmcacfecd her parents and  six

sjddbUEgBmfemmriBiimAm Japan with her parents and s ix siblings# 
never

I would jodt/like to see aby Americas citizen being  sent t© cam© without 

a hearing asd being lacked up f©r alm®st four years  because we were 

•f Japanese ancestry. We had a very hard time start ing all ©ver 

again mimmmmmimm&ibinmxBmastamK&y^nandsHasys and ou r family were 

all separated. After Tule Lake we never got tcgethe r as a family, 

and many nights I cried myself to sleep. In Japan, we were hated 

by the Japanese.

Arthur Kikuchi, age 19s

In answer to the question, ’’What part of the exper ience xx is 

still hardest to bear, Mr. Kukuchi respesdend:

I rhink the incarceration without a hearing; and I still wake 

up at unpredictable times and I*m still is camp, an d I wake up in a 

pool of saw sweat. . • That &as been the toughest. • T© this day I ’m 

&±±± still is camp. So that's a nightmare, a recurr ing nightmare, . .

I think if I were paying f©r a crime, you’d say to yourself, "Well, I de�

serve t© be put there; but if it isn't, then the an guish, the mental 

anguish. . •


